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CHAIRMAN’S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS 
 

Dear Shareholder, 
 

The major activity of the Company in the 2011 financial year has been the research program with 
Mears Technologies Inc. for the development of more efficient silicon based photovoltaic (“PV”) 
solar cells, utilising Mears Silicon Technology (“MST™”). 

During the year a major achievement was the optical characterisation of the MST™ enhanced PV 
silicon. Various optical and physical tests were undertaken on MST™ film compared to Crystalline 
Silicone (“CSI”). Ellipsometry measurements indicated a significant increase in optical absorption in 
MST™ film. This was seen as a major breakthrough. The next step in the research program was the 
testing of the MST™ enabled solar cells to determine the extent to which increased light absorption 
resulted in increased electrical power. 

As previously indicated, solar cells for testing were fabricated at two separate facilities, Center for 
Nanoscale Systems (“CNS”) at Harvard University and TEI Solutions in Japan. Whilst the 
preliminary CNS results were encouraging, the results were not confirmed by the TEI results, which 
highlighted a reduction in output power from an effect known as recombination.  Analysis to 
determine the source of the recombination is ongoing. It is not believed to be fundamental to the MST 
film design, but to originate from a mis-processing of the MST™ film, analogous to issues previously 
encountered and overcome during the earlier development of MST™ for CMOS (semi-conductor 
computer chips). 

The research and development program is ongoing and progress will be reported as it comes to hand.  

Mears Technologies Inc. 

K2 Energy Limited’s interest in Mears Technologies Inc. is currently 5% and will increase to at least 
7.4% conditional on a capital restructure and raising currently in progress. 

Mears Technologies Inc. has developed MST™ CMOS technology for use by semiconductor chip 
producers. The technology addresses key issues that are being encountered by the semiconductor 
industry. 

MST™ has been demonstrated to reduce gate leakage and increase drive current (performance) in 
CMOS semiconductors. It also has the benefit of reducing the increasing variability in key 
parameters, that is now one of the most significant problems facing the industry and which is limiting 
the yield, power and performance of leading products. 

The company’s core competency combines materials engineering and quantum mechanics with 
semiconductor process technology, to optimise the power efficiency and performance of integrated 
circuits manufactured on deep sub-micron processes. With a licensing model and strong patent 
position covering new silicon structures, methods and processes, Mears Technologies enhances the 
fundamental electronic properties of silicon, without requiring new manufacturing equipment or the 
use of exotic materials. 

Oil and Gas 

As reported in 2010, K2 entered into a joint venture with Trey Resources LLC. K2 maintains a 30% 
interest in the joint venture, which during the year, was self-funding. Expenditure by the Company on 
its oil and gas interests was virtually nil.  

 

Yours faithfully, 
 

 
 

 
SAMUEL GAZAL 
Chairman 
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K2 ENERGY LIMITED A.C.N. 106 609 143 
 

DIRECTORS' REPORT 
 

The Directors submit their report for the financial year ended 30 June 2011. 
 

DIRECTORS 
The names and details of the Company’s directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as 
follows.  Directors were in office for the entire period unless otherwise stated. 
 

Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities 
 

Samuel Gazal, BEc, 

Non-executive Chairman  

Sam has more than 35 years experience as a director of public and private companies. He graduated from Sydney 
University with a Bachelor of Economics. He has been a director and significant shareholder in a number of successful 
companies including Gazal Industries Limited, Winthrop Investments Limited, Country Television Services Limited and 
Sunshine Broadcasting Network Limited. He is the major shareholder and chairman of the Roslyndale group of 
companies.  
 

Robert Kenneth (Ken) Gaunt 
Non-executive Director 
 
Ken has enjoyed significant commercial success since founding Electronic Banking Solutions Pty Ltd in 1998. As 
Managing Director, Ken developed the business before merging with Cash Card Australia Limited in 2003. Ken has been 
director of Cash Card Australia Limited and is an investor in many successful businesses in Australia and elsewhere. Ken 
was a board member and Australia’s representative of the ATM industry association and was a member of the customer 
advisory board of National Cash Register Company Limited.  

 
Robert Mears, BA & MA Physics (Oxford); Ph.D. (University of Southampton) 
Non-executive Director – (appointed 3rd July 2010) 

 
Dr Robert Mears is recognised worldwide as one of the world’s leading experts in photonics – the synthesis of electronics 
and optical communication. 
In the 1980’s Dr Mears addressed the challenge of increasing the capacity and speed of data transmission of fibre optic 
cables in the telecommunications industry by inventing an optical amplifier, known as the Erbium Doped Amplifier 
(“EDFA”). EDFA technology increased usable capacity of optical fibre by more than 1000 times. It was and remains a 
key enabling technology of the internet. 
 

Michael Reed, BSc, (Hons) CPG,AAPG  
Non-executive Director – (resigned 23rd November 2010) 
 
Michael is a 1982 honours graduate in geology from the University of Kentucky and a Certified Petroleum Geologist with 
the American Association of Petroleum Geologists. He has 25 years’ experience in oil and gas exploration and 
investment, currently as President of Aspen Energy, Inc. and formerly as Vice President of Tenexco Inc. based in 
Louisville, Kentucky, USA.   
 

Peter Moore, BA LLB.   

Managing Director (resigned 2nd July 2010) 

Peter was formerly a commercial lawyer and is a director of Geoflite Inc. He has worked in the resource exploration 
industry since 1987, and has wide commercial experience in the oil and gas exploration industry in the United States. 
 

Company Secretary 
Terence Flitcroft B Comm. CA SFIN 
Mr Flitcroft is company secretary for a number of public and private companies. 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 

Corporate Structure 
K2 Energy Limited is a public company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX Code: KTE).   
 

Employees 
K2 currently has no employees.  
 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 

MEARS SOLAR 
 
In March 2010 the company secured the exclusive worldwide rights to the Mears Silicon Technology (“MSTTM”) for all 
solar energy applications from Mears Technologies Inc. (“MTI”).  
 
The Mears MSTTM technology potentially addresses one of the major limiting factors for Photovoltaic (PV) solar cell 
technology and solar power generation, being the efficiency limits of silicon PV cells. MTI believes that a key efficiency 
parameter can be lifted significantly using MSTTM technology and furthermore that the amount of silicon required can be 
significantly reduced over time, potentially making PV cells both significantly more efficient and much less expensive. 
 
The MSTTM technology involves the production of altered or “nano-doped” layers of silicon that can be inserted into the 
manufacture of silicon solar PV wafers. The process lends itself to application in existing silicon wafer manufacturing 
processes. 
 
K2’s solar research and development continued during the year. 
 
In March 2011, K2 announced very successful results from the first phase of testing of the ultra thin MSTTM Solar Cells, 
which were fabricated in the United States. Testing of these solar cells confirmed increases in power output of up to 60%. 
 
A second set of solar cells was fabricated at Tei Solutions in Japan. This process was delayed due to the Japanese 
earthquake, but is now complete. 
 
The focus of the testing of the Tei Solar Cells has been the extraction of a key parameter for solar cell design known as 
recombination. The efficiency of a solar cell is reduced because of the effects of recombination, where charge carriers are 
not able to move into an external circuit. The TEI MST wafers, whose design configuration differs from the better 
performing CNS designs, are exhibiting degraded recombination compared to crystalline silicon controls although 
improved recombination compared to polycrystalline silicon controls. 
 
Further analysis of the results is ongoing to determine the cause of the additional recombination. This is not expected to be 
fundamental to the MST design but may indicate sub-optimal fabrication conditions of the MST silicon layer. Once the 
analysis is completed a revised program will be implemented for further MST fabrication and testing in the future.  
 
The head of Mears Technologies Inc., Dr Robert Mears, was appointed to the K2 Energy Limited Board of Directors in July 
2010. 

 
MEARS TECHNOLOGIES INC. 

 
K2 Energy committed to invest an additional USD250,000 for additional shares in Mears Technologies Inc., of which 
USD166,000 was subscribed during the June quarter, with the balance due in December 2011. The Convertible Note 
investment the company held in Mears Technologies Inc. was converted into equity at the same time. As a result, K2 
Energy now has a shareholding of over 5% in Mears Technologies Inc. as well as additional warrants (options). 

 
Mears Technologies Inc. has developed an advanced CMOS technology for use in computer chips, which it is now in the 
process of being commercialised. Mears Technologies Inc. is in discussions with major manufacturers and industry 
players, with the aim of signing licensing deals for the technology. 
 

 
OIL AND GAS 

In June 2010 KTE acquired approximately 30% of Trey Resources 1 LLC, a US-based limited liability company. 
 

Oil and gas outgoings in the future have been substantially reduced. KTE has the opportunity to invest further in additional 
exploration, at its election, in proportion to its holding in Trey Resources 1 LLC. 
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FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

The Company had cash funds on hand of approximately $2.23 million at year-end.  
 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 
 

K2 Energy owns the worldwide rights to all intellectual property covering solar energy applications developed by Mears 
Technologies Inc., has an investment in Mears Technologies Inc. and has oil and gas interests in the USA, via its 
shareholding in Trey Resources 1 LLC.   
 

FINANCIAL RESULT 
 
The operating result for the financial year ended 30 June 2011 for the Consolidated Entity was an after tax loss of 
$1,843,101 (2010: $3,822,107). 
 

 

DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED 
 

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and no amount has been paid or declared by way of a dividend 
to the date of this report. 

 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 

 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity during the financial year, other than as 
detailed in this directors’ report and the Chairman’s Letter accompanying this report. 
 

AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS 
 

The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the period to the date of this 
report that has significantly affected or may affect: 

(i) The operations of the company and the entities that it controls 
(ii) The results of those operations 
(iii) The state of affairs of the company in subsequent years, other than as set out below. 

 

In September 2011 Mears Technologies Inc. advised shareholders it would be conducting a further fund raising to enable 
it to fund working capital for its CMOS research and development program. The ongoing viability of Mears Technologies 
Inc. is dependent upon successful completion of this capital raising.  

 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS 
 

The company will continue to fund research and development of the Mears Solar Technology. The Company also 
continues to hold its investment in Trey Resources I LLC. Future performance will depend on the results of future 
research and development and drilling.  

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS AND PROCEEDINGS 
 
K2 Energy is aware of its environmental obligations with regards to its exploration activities and ensured that it complied 
with all regulations when carrying out any exploration work in the USA. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT 
 

Remuneration Policy 

 

The remuneration policy of K2 Energy Limited has been designed to align director objectives with shareholder and business 

objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component, which is assessed on an annual basis in line with market rates. The 

Board of K2 Energy Limited, the majority of whom are non-executive directors, believes the remuneration policy to be 

appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain the best directors to run and manage the company, as well as to 

create goal congruence between directors and shareholders. The Board will assess the appropriateness of the nature and 

amount of emoluments of such officers on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the 

overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and executive team.   

The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for board members is as follows: 

The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the executive director was developed and approved by the 
Board after seeking professional advice from independent external consultants. 
In determining competitive remuneration rates, the Board seeks independent advice on local and international trends among 
comparative companies and industry generally. It examines terms and conditions for employee incentive schemes, benefit 
plans and share plans.   Independent advice is obtained to confirm that executive remuneration is in line with market practice 
and is reasonable in the context of Australian executive reward practices.  

The Company engaged in solar research and development and emerging production during the year, and therefore during the 

year was speculative in terms of performance. Consistent with attracting and retaining talented executives, directors were paid 

market rates associated with individuals in similar positions within the same industry.   

The Board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, commitment 

and responsibilities. The Remuneration Committee determines payments to the non-executive directors and reviews their 

remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability. The Remuneration Committee consists of the 

entire Board. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors is subject to approval by 

shareholders. Fees for non-executive directors are not linked to the performance of the Company. However, to align directors’ 

interests with shareholder interests, the directors are encouraged to hold shares in the company.  

 

(a) Directors’ and Key Management Personnel Remuneration 
 

(i) Directors 

Samuel Gazal -Non-Executive Director  
Ken Gaunt - Non-Executive Director  
Robert Mears – Non-Executive Director (appointed 3rd July 2010) 
Mike Reed- Non-Executive Director (resigned 23rd November 2010)  
Peter Moore- Managing Director (resigned 2nd July 2010) 
 

 (ii)   Executives 

During the year ended 30th June 2011 there were no executives. 
 

Directors’ remuneration and other terms of employment are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee having 
regard to performance against goals set at the start of the year, relative comparative information and independent expert 
advice. 

Except as detailed in Notes (b) – (d) to the remuneration report, no director has received or become entitled to receive, 
during or since the financial year, a benefit because of a contract made by the Company or a related body corporate with a 
director, a firm of which a director is a member or an entity in which a director has a substantial financial interest.  This 
statement excludes a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by directors 
and shown in Notes (b) – (d) to the remuneration report, prepared in accordance with the Corporations regulations, or the 
fixed salary of a full time employee of the Company. 
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(b) Directors’ and Key Management Personnel Remuneration  
 

The following table discloses the remuneration of Directors of the company for the year ended 30 June 2011, as specified 
for disclosure by AASB 124. The information contained in this table is audited. 

 

 Short Term  Post-employment   

 
 
 
Directors 

 
Base Salary 

and Fees 
$ 

  
Share Option 
Expense *** 

$ 

   
Superannuation 
Contributions 

$ 

  
 

TOTAL 
$ 

Sam Gazal **         
30 June 2010 27,528  -   2,478  30,006  
30 June 2011 48,132  88,000   4,332  140,464 

Peter Moore *         
30 June 2010 253,212  -   9,289  262,501 
30 June 2011 -  -   -  - 

Ken Gaunt          
30 June 2010 18,348  -   1,651  19,999 
30 June 2011 30,836  44,000   2,775  77,611 

Robert Mears****          
30 June 2010 -  -   -  - 
30 June 2011 35,591  -   -  35,591 

Total 2010 299,088  -   13,418  312,506 
Total 2011 114,559  132,000   7,107  253,666 

 
*   Mr Moore’s salary and superannuation contribution was paid by K2 Energy Investments Pty Limited. During the    

year fees were paid to Geoflite Inc. – a company associated with Peter Moore.  Mr Moore resigned on 2nd July 
2010. 

**   During the year fees were paid to Winchester Associates Pty Limited – a company associated with Sam Gazal.  
***   Issue of options to director related entities 
**** An amount of $35,591 is payable to Mears Technologies Inc. - a company associated with Dr Robert Mears. 
  for services provided to K2 Energy Limited by Dr Mears  
 During the year fees were paid to Aspen Energy Inc. – a company associated with Mike Reed. Mr Reed resigned    
         on 23rd November 2010. 
 
Refer note 25 of the accounts for further details of amounts payable to these entities. 
 

 (c) Directors’ and Key Management Personnel Remuneration by Category 
 

   

  30 June 2011 
$ 

30 June 2010 
$ 

 
Short-term  114,559 299,088 
Other long-term  - - 
Post employment benefits  7,107 13,418 
Share option expense  132,000 - 

  253,666 312,506 

 

(d) Compensation Options: Granted and vested during and since the financial year ended 30 June 2011 
 
No shares were issued on exercise of compensation options during the financial year or previous financial year. 
 

(e) Options issued as Part of Remuneration 

Options are issued from time to time to directors and executives as part of their remuneration. The options are not issued 

based on performance criteria, but are issued to increase goal congruence between executives, directors and shareholders. 

Shareholders approved the issue of a total of 6 million options exercisable upon payment of 20 cents per share to Director’s 

related entities on 23 November 2010. These options expire on 31st December 2014. 

 

(f) Employment Contracts of Directors and Senior Executives       

Peter Moore was the only director who was a permanent employee of the Company. He resigned on 2nd July 2010. 
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 
 
The number of directors' meetings (including committees) held during the financial year and the number of meetings 
attended by each director are: 
 

 COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

 DIRECTORS’  

MEETINGS 

AUDIT  

COMMITTEE 

REMUNERATION 

COMMITTEE 

 

 Number 
eligible to 

attend 

Number 
Attended 

Number 
eligible to  

attend 

Number 
Attended 

Number 
eligible to  

attend 

Number 
Attended 

  

Samuel Gazal  4 4 1 1 - -   

Robert Mears   3 3 - - - -   

Peter Moore 1 1 - - - -   

Ken Gaunt  4 4 1 1 - -   

Mike Reed  3 3 - - - -   

 

OPTIONS 
 

At the date of this report there were 6 million options over ordinary shares in the Company on issue. 
 

BOARD MEMBERS DIRECTORSHIPS  

No listed public company directorships have been held by Board Members over the last three years. 

 
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES 
 
All equity dealings with directors have been entered into with terms and conditions no more favourable than those that 
the entity would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length. The relevant interests of each director in share capital at the 
date of this report are as follows:- 
 

 Number of 

Shares 

Number of 

Options 
Samuel Gazal * 7,600,000 4,000,000 

Ken Gaunt * 10,499,260 2,000,000 

Robert Mears - - 

  18,099,260 6,000,000 

 
*  Held by an entity associated with the Director and in which he has a financial interest. 
 

INDEMNIFYING OFFICERS OR AUDITOR                                      
 
In accordance with the constitution, except as may be prohibited by the Corporations Act 2001, every officer, auditor or 
agent of the Company shall be indemnified out of the property of the Company against any liability incurred by him in 
his capacity as officer, auditor or agent of the Company or any related corporation in respect of any act or omission 
whatsoever and howsoever occurring or in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal.  The Company 
currently has no insurance in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability. 

 
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY 
 
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceeding 
to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of 
those proceedings.  
The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 

 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 

The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2011 has been received and can be found on 
page 43 of the annual report. 
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NON AUDIT SERVICES 
 
The board of directors, in accordance with advice from the audit committee, is satisfied that the provision of non-audit 
services during the year is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations 

Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the services disclosed below did not compromise the external auditor’s 
independence for the following reasons: 
• all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the audit committee prior to commencement to ensure they do not 
adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and 
• the nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles relating to auditor independence in 
accordance with APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants set by the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board. 
 
The following fees for non-audit services were paid/payable to the external auditors during the year ended 30 June 2011: 
- Taxation services $1,500 
 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Samuel Gazal 
Chairman  
30 September 2011
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Corporate Governance Statement 
Principle 1: 
Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall Corporate Governance of the company including its strategic 
direction, establishing goals for management and monitoring the achievement of these goals. 
The primary responsibilities of the Board include responsibility for: 
• oversight of the company, including its control and accountability systems, 
• appointing and removing the chief executive officer (or equivalent), 
• ratifying the appointment and, where appropriate, the removal  

of the chief financial officer (or equivalent) and the company secretary, 
• input into and final approval of management’s development  

of corporate strategy and performance objectives, 
• reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management and internal compliance and control, codes of conduct, and 

legal compliance, 
• monitoring senior management’s performance and implementation of strategy, and ensuring appropriate 

resources are available, 
• approving and monitoring the progress of major capital expenditure, capital management, and acquisitions and 

divestitures, 
• approving and monitoring financial and other reporting. 
Directors consider that the company’s procedures comply with Principle 1 of the Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance. 

 
Principle 2: 
Structure the board to add value 

2.1: A majority of the board should be independent directors. 
The names of the Directors of the Company in office at the date of this Statement are set out in the Directors’ Report. 
Directors are appointed based on their experience and on independence of their decision-making and judgement. 
In considering the status of directors as independent directors the company has regard to the following  
An independent director is a non-executive director (ie is not a member of management) and: 
• is not a substantial shareholder of the company or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, a 

substantial shareholder of the company 
• within the last three years has not been employed in an executive capacity by the company or another group 

member, or been a director after ceasing to hold any such employment 
• within the last three years has not been a principal of a material professional adviser or a material consultant to 

the company or another group member, or an employee materially associated with the service provided 
• is not a material supplier or customer of the company or other group member, or an officer of or otherwise 

associated directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer 
• has no material contractual relationship with the company or another group member other than as a director of 

the company 
• has not served on the board for a period which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere 

with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the company 
• is free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be perceived 

to, materially interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the company. 
The majority of the directors are independent, therefore the company complies with principle 2.1. 

 
2.2: The chairperson should be an independent director. 
The Directors consider that the company complies with the principle 2.2. 

 
2.3: The roles of chairperson and chief executive officer should not be exercised by the same individual. 
The Directors consider the company complied during the financial year. The company currently has no Chief Executive 
Officer.  
 

2.4: The board should establish a nomination committee 
The company does not have a formal nomination committee due to the scale and nature of the company’s activities. The 
whole board meet to consider additional appointments to the Board.  
Directors consider that the company complies with the intentions of Principle 2.4 of the Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance. 
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2.5: Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 2 
The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director held by each director in office at the date of the 
Annual Report are disclosed in the Directors’ Report included in the Annual Report. 
All of the current directors are considered by the board to constitute independent directors. The company does not have 
fixed materiality thresholds. 
Each Director has the right to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. However, prior approval 
of the Chair is required, which is not unreasonably withheld. 
No directors have fixed terms of office.  
The company does not have a nomination committee for the reasons outlined in 2.4 above. 
Any departures from best practice recommendations 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 2.4 or 2.5 are included in those sections. 
The Board will review its composition on an annual basis to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise 
and experience. Where a vacancy exists, for whatever reason, or where it is considered that the Board would benefit 
from the services of a new Director with particular skills, the Board will select appropriate candidates with relevant 
qualifications, skills and experience. 
Directors consider that the company complies with Principle 2.5 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance. 
 

Principle 3: 
Promote ethical and responsible decision-making 

3.1: Establish a code of conduct to guide the directors, the chief executive officer (or equivalent), the chief financial 
officer (or equivalent) and any other key executives as to: 
3.1.1 the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the company’s integrity 
3.1.2 the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of unethical 
practices. 
The Board’s policy for the Directors and management is to conduct themselves with the highest ethical standards. All 
Directors and employees will be expected to act with integrity and objectivity, striving at all times to enhance the 
reputation and performance of the Company. 
The Company has not adopted a specific Code of Conduct due to the size of its operations and number of employees at 
this time. 
The Directors consider the company complies. 
 

3.2: Disclose the policy concerning trading in company securities by directors, officers and employees. 
The policy is as follows: 
Directors and senior executives (officers) must not buy or sell shares or securities in the company if they possess 
information which, if disclosed publicly, might have a material effect on the price or value of the company’s shares. 
Directors through the Company Secretary must notify the ASX of any change in their share holdings within 3 business 
days of the transaction taking place. 
The Company maintains a policy that requires all directors to seek the chairman’s approval prior to trading in the 
Company’s securities. 
No transaction should take place if the directors (or officers) are aware of any information which, if disclosed publicly, 
might have a material effect on the price or value of the company’s shares. 
Directors consider that the company complies with Principle 3.2 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance. 

 
3.3: Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 3. 
This information is provided in this statement. 
Directors consider that the company complies with Principle 3.3 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance. 
 

Principle 4:  
Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 

4.1: Require the chief executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial officer (or equivalent) to state in 
writing to the board that the company’s financial reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of 
the company’s financial condition and operational results and are in accordance with relevant accounting 
standards. 
The Directors consider the company complies. 
 

4.2: The board should establish an audit committee. 
The Directors consider the company complies. 

 
4.3: Structure the audit committee so that it consists of: 
• only non-executive directors 
• a majority of independent directors 
• an independent chairperson, who is not chairperson of the board 
• at least three members. 
Directors consider that Principle 4.3 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance is not applicable given the size of 
the Board and two members is appropriate. 
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4.4: The audit committee should have a formal charter. 
Directors consider that Principle 4.4 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance is not applicable. 

 
4.5: Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 4. 
Directors consider that the company complies with Principle 4.5 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance to the 
extent applicable to the Company. 

 
Principle 5: 
Make timely and balanced disclosure 

5.1: Establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure 
requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior management level for that compliance. 
All directors are required to have a general understanding of the matters that are to be, or not to be disclosed in 
accordance with the ASX Listing Rules. 
All matters concerning compliance with the listing rules are to be reported to the chairman. 
The Chairman has primary responsibility for ensuring that the company complies with its disclosure obligations and is 
primarily responsible for deciding what information will be disclosed. 
The Chairman and the Company Secretary are responsible for promoting understanding of compliance and monitoring 
compliance. 
Directors are required to maintain confidentiality of corporate information to avoid premature disclosure 
The Chairman is responsible for media contact and comment, external communications such as analyst briefings and 
responses to shareholder questions. 
Directors consider that the company complies with Principle 5.1 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance. 

 
5.2: Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 5. 
This information is provided in this statement. 
Directors consider that the company complies with Principle 5.2 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance. 

 
Principle 6:  
Respect the rights of shareholders 

6.1: Design and disclose a communications strategy to promote effective communication with shareholders and 
encourage effective participation at general meetings. 
Information is communicated to shareholders as follows: 
• notices of all meetings of shareholders; 
• all documents that are released publicly are made available on the Company’s website at www.K2energy.com.au 
Directors consider that the company complies with Principle 6.1 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance. 

 
6.2: Request the external auditor to attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder 
questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the auditor’s report. 
Directors anticipate that the company will comply with Principle 6.2 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance. 

 
Principle 7:  
Recognise and manage risk 

7.1: The board or appropriate board committee should establish policies on risk oversight and management. 
The Board monitors and if necessary receives advice on areas of operational and financial risk, and considers strategies 
for appropriate risk management arrangements. 
Specific areas of risk, which are identified, will be regularly considered at Board meetings include performance of 
activities, human resources, the environment and continuous disclosure obligations. 

 
7.2: The chief executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial officer (or equivalent) should state to the 
board in writing that: 
 
7.2.1 The statement given in accordance with best practice recommendation 4.1 (the integrity of financial 
statements) is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which 
implements the policies adopted by the board. 
 
7.2.2 The company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material respects. 
Matters of risk management and compliance are currently addressed by the board as a whole at this stage of the 
development of the company. 
Directors consider that the company complies with the intentions of Principle 7.2 of the Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance. 

 
7.3: Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 7. 
This information is provided in this statement. 
Directors consider that the company complies with Principle 7.3 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance. 
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Principle 8: 
Encourage enhanced performance 

8.1: Disclose the process for performance evaluation of the board, its committees and individual directors, and key 
executives. 
At this stage of the development of the company, the company does not have formal procedures in place for performance 
evaluation of the board, its committees and individual directors, and key executives.  
Directors consider that the company does not comply with Principle 8.1 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance 
although this non-compliance is not material. 

 
Principle 9:  
Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

9.1: Provide disclosure in relation to the company’s remuneration policies to enable investors to understand (i) the 
costs and benefits of those policies and (ii) the link between remuneration paid to directors and key executives and 
corporate performance. 
At this stage of the development of the company, the company has formal remuneration policies in place.  

 
9.2: The board should establish a remuneration committee. 
The Directors consider the company complies. 

 
9.3: Clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration from that of executives. 
The remuneration of each director is set out in the Directors’ Report included in the Annual Report. 
Directors consider that the company complies with Principle 9.3 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance. 

 
9.4: Ensure that payment of equity-based executive remuneration is made in accordance with thresholds set in 
plans approved by shareholders. 
The company has equity-based executive remuneration that has been approved by shareholders on 29 December 2004. No 
equity based remuneration is currently on issue. Directors consider that Principle 9.4 of the Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance is not applicable. 

 
9.5: Provide the information indicated in Guide to reporting on Principle 9. 
This information is provided in this statement. 
Directors consider that the company complies with Principle 9.5 of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance. 

 
Principle 10: 
Recognise the legitimate interests of stakeholders 

10.1: Establish and disclose a code of conduct to guide compliance with legal and other obligations to legitimate 
stakeholders. 
The Directors consider the company complies. 
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K2 ENERGY LIMITED A.C.N. 106 609 143 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 

For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Note 

30 June 2011 
$ 

 30 June 2010 
$ 

 
 

   

Other revenue  5 213,844 89,034 
Amortisation & depreciation  - (1,500) 
Administration and corporate expenses  (393,498)  (276,664) 
Directors’ fees, salaries and employee benefits  (137,425) (155,912) 
Foreign exchange losses 6 (203,235) (63,386) 
Share option expense  (132,000) - 
Research and development expenses  (1,190,787) (518,655) 

 
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

 
 

 
(1,843,101) 

 
(927,083) 

 
Income Tax Benefit / (Expense) 7 

 
- 

 
- 

NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE 
TO CONTINUING OPERATIONS 

  
(1,843,101) 

 
(927,083) 

 
LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED 
OPERATIONS AFTER TAX 

 
 

21 

 
 

- 

 
 

(2,895,024) 

 
LOSS FOR THE YEAR 

  
(1,843,101) 

 
(3,822,107) 

    
    
Basic loss per share (cents) 20 (0.95)  (2.93) 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

30 June 2011 
$ 

 30 June 2010 
$ 

Loss for the period  (1,843,101) (3,822,107) 
Other comprehensive income:    
Foreign exchange translation difference for foreign 
operations 

 - (1,687,053) 

Total other comprehensive income for the year  -  (1,678,053) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS OF THE 
PARENT ENTITY 

 
 

 
 

(1,843,101) 

 
 

(5,550,160) 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

As at 30 June 2011 
 

 
 

 
 

 Note 30 June 2011 
$ 

 30 June 2010 
$ 

CURRENT ASSETS 

    

Cash and cash equivalents 8 2,234,599 947,502 
Trade and other receivables 9 13,304 14,459 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  

 
2,247,903 

 
961,961 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

   

Other financial assets 11 2,701,146 - 1,880,878 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  2,701,146 1,880,878 

 
TOTAL ASSETS  

 
4,949,049 

 
2,842,839 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 

   

Trade and other payables 13 244,843 179,323 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  

 
244,843 

 
179,323 

    

TOTAL LIABILITIES  244,843 179,323 

    
NET ASSETS   4,704,206 2,663,516 

EQUITY 

   

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent    
Issued capital 14 46,686,559 42,934,768 
Reserves 15 2,621,100 2,489,100 
Accumulated losses  (44,603,453) (42,760,352)

TOTAL EQUITY  4,704,206 2,663,516 

 
 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 

 

 

Foreign 

Currency 

Translation 

Reserve 

Option 

Reserve 

Issued Capital Accumulated 

Losses 

Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2009 1,678,053 2,489,100 42,934,768 (38,938,245) 8,163,676 

Loss attributable to members  - - - (3,822,107) (3,822,107) 

Foreign exchange translation 

difference for foreign 

operations 
(1,678,053) - - -

 

(1,678,053) 

Balance at 30 June 2010 - 2,489,100 42,934,768 (42,760,352) 2,663,516 

Loss attributable to members  - - - (1,843,101) (1,843,101) 

Issue of shares (net) - - 3,751,791 - 3,751,791 

Share option reserve on 

recognition of remuneration 

options 
- 132,000 - -

 

132,000 

Balance at 30 June 2011 - 2,621,100 46,686,559 (44,603,453) 4,704,206 

 

 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

       For the year ended 30 June 2011 
 
 

 

 

 
Note 

 
30 June 2011 

$ 

  
30 June 2010 

$ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES       
Payments for operations and employees  (1,733,827)  (1,356,790) 
Interest received  93,107  81,466 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES 

 
18 (1,640,720) 

 
(1,275,324) 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING/FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES 

  

Investment in securities   (620,739)  (1,101,800) 
Disposal of subsidiary  -  (115,167) 
Proceeds issue of shares (net of expenses)   3,751,791  - 

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN 
INVESTING/FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

 
3,131,052 

 
(1,216,967) 

 
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

1,490,332 

 

(2,492,291) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  947,502  3,503,179 
Net foreign exchange difference  (203,235)  (63,386) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF 
YEAR 

 
19 

 
2,234,599 

  
947,502 

 
 

 

 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

1. REPORTING ENTITY 

K2 Energy Limited is a company domiciled in Australia. The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at 

and for the year ended 30 June 2011 comprise the Company and its controlled entities (together referred to as the 

Consolidated Entity). The Consolidated Entity owns the worldwide rights to all intellectual property covering solar 

energy applications developed by Mears Technologies Inc., has an investment in Mears Technologies Inc. and has oil 

and gas interests in the USA, via its shareholding in Trey Resources 1 LLC.   

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

a.  Statement of compliance  

The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial report of the Consolidated 

Entity and the financial report of the Company comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 

and Interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

b.  Basis of measurement  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.  

c. Functional and presentation currency  

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company's 

functional currency.  

d. Use of judgments and estimates  

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 

income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions

are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which 

the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. In particular, information about significant areas 

of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is described in the following areas: 

Impairment and Financial instruments. 

  

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 

financial statements and have been applied consistently by all entities in the Consolidated Entity.  

a. Basis of Consolidation 

 Controlled entities  

 Controlled entities are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has power, 

directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 

from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable or convertible 

are taken into account. The financial statements of controlled entities are included in the consolidated 

financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Investments in 

controlled entities are carried at their cost of acquisition in the Company's financial statements.  

 Transactions eliminated on consolidation  

 Intra-group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

b. Revenue 

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and 
the revenue can be reliably measured.   
 
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 
Interest 

Control of the right to receive the interest payment. 
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c. Goods and Services Tax  

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 

incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as 

part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. Receivables and payables are stated 

with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the relevant 

taxation authority is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet. Cash flows are included in 

the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and 

financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the relevant taxation authority are classified 

as operating cash flows. 

d. Foreign Currency 

 Foreign currency transactions  

 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of controlled 

entities at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the 

foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Non-monetary transactions denominated in foreign currencies that 

are stated at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-

monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated 

to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the date the fair value was determined. 

Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement.   

 Financial statements of foreign operations  

 The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 

acquisition, generally are translated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the 

reporting date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to the functional currency at 

rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of transactions. Foreign currency 

differences arising from translation of controlled entities with a different functional currency to that of the 

Consolidated Entity are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve (FCTR). When a foreign 

operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount of its FCTR is transferred to profit or loss.  

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign 

operation, the settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to 

form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised directly in equity in the FCTR..  

e.  Cash and cash equivalents  

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with an original maturity of three 

months or less. 

f. Provisions 

 A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Consolidated Entity has a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of a past event that can be measured reliably, and it is probable that an 

outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 

g. Impairment 

 The carrying amounts of the Consolidated Entity's assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 

whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount 

is estimated (see below). An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its 

cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income 

statement unless the asset has previously been revalued, in which case the impairment loss is recognised as 

a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any excess recognised through the income 

statement. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash generating units are allocated first to reduce the 

carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash generating unit or a group of units and then, to 

reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or a group of units on a pro-rata basis. 
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 Calculation of recoverable amount  

Receivables  

 The recoverable amount of the Consolidated Entity's investments in receivables carried at amortised cost is 

calculated as the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 

rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables 

with a short duration are not discounted. Impairment of receivables is not recognised until objective 

evidence is available that a loss event has occurred. Significant receivables are individually assessed for 

impairment. Impairment testing of significant receivables that are not assessed as impaired individually is 

performed by placing them into portfolios of significant receivables with similar risk profiles and 

undertaking a collective assessment of impairment. Non-significant receivables are not individually 

assessed. 

Instead, impairment testing is performed by placing non-significant receivables in portfolios of similar risk 

profiles, based on objective evidence from historical experience adjusted for any effects of conditions 

existing at each balance date. The allowance for impairment is calculated with reference to the profile of 

debtors in the Consolidated Entity's sales and marketing regions. 

 Other Assets 

 The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell, and value in use. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of 

assets that generate cash flows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash flows of other 

assets or groups of assets (cash generating units). The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the 

purpose of impairment testing is allocated to the cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the 

synergies of the combination. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the 

recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

 Reversals of Impairment 

 An impairment loss in respect of a receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent 

increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss 

was recognised. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, an 

impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and 

there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 

reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 

have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

h. Property, Plant and Equipment  

 Owned assets 

 Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (see below) and 

impairment losses (see accounting policy (g)). An asset's cost is determined as the consideration provided 

plus incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Subsequent costs in relation to replacing a part 

of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that 

future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Consolidated Entity and its cost can be 

measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the income statement as incurred.  

 Leased assets - Operating leases 

 Payments made under operating leases are expensed on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, 

except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the 

leased property. Minimum lease payments include fixed rate increases.  
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 Depreciation  

 Depreciation is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis. Items of property, plant and 

equipment, including leasehold assets, are depreciated using the straight-line method over their estimated 

useful lives, taking into account estimated residual values. Assets are depreciated from the date of 

acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is completed and held ready

for use. Depreciation rates and methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet 

date. When changes are made, adjustments are reflected prospectively in current and future financial 

periods only. The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative periods are as follows:  

Plant & equipment                           5 – 10 years 

i. Exploration, evaluation and Development Expenditure  

 Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each 
identifiable area of interest.  These costs are carried forward only if they relate to an area of interest for 
which rights of tenure are current and in respect of which: 

(i) such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation or 
from sale of the area; or 

(ii) exploration and evaluation activities in the area have not, at balance date, resulted in booking 
economically recoverable reserves, and active operations in, or relating to, this area are 
continuing. 

Accumulated costs in respect of areas of interest which are abandoned are written off in full against profit 
in the year in which the decision to abandon the area is made. 
 

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to 
carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. 
 

Amortisation is charged against individual wells currently based on a well life of 5 years as reserve 

estimates are not yet available.  Amortisation is not charged on costs carried forward in respect of areas of 

interest in the development phase until production commences. 

j.  Restoration 

 

Provisions for future environmental restoration are recognised where there is a present obligation as a result 
of exploration, development, production, transportation or storage activities having been undertaken, and it 
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. The estimated 
future obligations include the costs of removing facilities, abandoning wells and restoring the affected 
areas. 
 

The provision for future restoration costs is the best estimate of the present value of the expenditure 
required to settle the restoration obligation at the reporting date, based on current legal requirements and 
technology. Future restoration costs are reviewed annually and any changes in the estimate are reflected in 
the present value of the restoration provision at the end of the balance sheet date, with a corresponding 
change in the cost of the associated asset. 
 

The amount of the provision for future restoration costs relating to exploration, development and 
production facilities is capitalized and depleted as a component of the cost of those activities. 

The unwinding of the effect of discounting on the provision is recognised as a finance cost. 

k. Goodwill 

 

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group's interest in the net fair value of 

the identifiable assets liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. Following initial recognition, 

goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. All goodwill on acquisition of 

controlled entities has been impaired. 

l. Employee Benefits 

 Wages, salaries and annual leave 

 

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries and annual leave expected to settle within 12 months of 

the year end represent present obligations resulting from employees' services provided up to reporting date, 

calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration wage and salary rates that the Consolidated 

Entity expects to pay as at reporting date including related on-costs, such as workers' compensation 

insurance and payroll tax. 
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 Share based payments 

 

The Company had granted options to certain directors and employees. The fair value of options and shares 
granted was recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value was measured 
at the date the options or shares were granted taking into account market based criteria and expensed over 
the vesting period after which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options and shares. 
The fair value of the options granted is measured using the Black-Scholes method, taking into account the 
terms and conditions attached to the options. The fair value of the performance shares granted is measured 
using the weighted average share price of ordinary shares in the Company, taking into account the terms 
and conditions attached to the shares. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual 
number of options and shares that vest except where forfeiture is due to market related conditions.  

m. Receivables  

 Trade and other receivables are stated at amortised cost less impairment losses (see accounting policy (g)). 

n. Taxation  

 

Income tax expense in the income statement for the periods presented comprises current and deferred tax. 
Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. Current tax is the expected tax payable on the 
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.  

Deferred tax is calculated using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 

purposes. Temporary differences are not provided for the initial recognition of goodwill and other assets or 

liabilities in a transaction that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, or differences relating to 

investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when 

they reverse, based upon the laws that have been enacted at reporting date. A deferred tax asset is 

recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 

the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. Additional income taxes that arise 

from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay the related dividend 

is recognised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the 

same taxable entity or on a different tax entity but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a 

net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

o.  Payables 

 Trade and other payables are stated at amortised cost.  

p.  Finance income and expense 

 Interest income is recognised as it accrues in the income statement using the effective interest method.  

q. Earnings per share 

 

The Consolidated Entity presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) for its ordinary shares. Basic 

EPS is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to equity holders of the parent for the financial 

period, after excluding any costs of servicing equity (other than ordinary shares) by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares of the Company, adjusted for any bonus issue.  

Diluted EPS is calculated using the basic EPS earnings as the numerator. The weighted average number of 

shares used as the denominator is adjusted by the after-tax effect of financing costs associated with the 

dilutive potential ordinary shares and the effect on revenues and expenses of conversion to ordinary shares 

associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares adjusted for any bonus issue. 
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r.  Segment Reporting 

 

An operating segment is a component of The Consolidated Entity that engages in business activities from 

which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to 

transactions with any of The Consolidated Entity’s other components if separately reported and 

monitored. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to 

make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which 

discrete financial information is available. 

Segment results that are reported to the Board of Directors include items directly attributable to a segment 
as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate 
head office results. 

s. Ordinary shares  

 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary 

shares and share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any income tax benefit. 

t. New Standards and Interpretations not yet adopted  

 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 
June 2011 reporting period. None of these are expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Consolidated Entity except for AASB 9 Financial Instruments, which becomes 
mandatory for the Consolidated Entity’s 2014 consolidated financial statements and could change the 
classification and measurement of financial assets. The Consolidated Entity does not plan to adopt this 
standard early and the extent of the impact has not been determined. 

u.  Other financial assets 

 

Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are 
classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-
maturity investments, or available-for-sale investments, as appropriate. When financial assets are 
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value 
through profit or loss, directly attributable transactions costs. The Group determines the classification of 
its financial assets after initial recognition and, when allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this 
designation at each financial year-end. 
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that 
the Group commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of 
financial assets under contracts that require delivery of the assets within the period established generally 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. 
 (i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category ‘financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss’. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on investments held for trading are 
recognised in profit or loss. 
(ii) Held-to-maturity investments 

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as 
held-to-maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments 
intended to be held for an undefined period are not included in this classification. Investments that are 
intended to be held-to-maturity, such as bonds, are subsequently measured at amortised cost. This cost is 
computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initially recognised amount 
and the maturity amount. This calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to 
the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums 
and discounts. For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 
when investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through amortisation process. 
(iii) Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or 
impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 
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(iv) Available-for-sale investments 

Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-
for-sale or are not classified as any of the three preceding categories. After initial recognition available-
for sale investments are measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognised as a separate 
component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be 
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is recognised in profit or 
loss. 
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by 
reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For investments 
with no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using 
recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument that is 
substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models. 

v. Research and Development 

 

Expenditure during the research phase of a project is recognised as an expense when incurred. 
Development costs are capitalised only when technical feasibility studies identify that the project will 
deliver future economic benefits and these benefits can be measured reliably.  Development costs have a 
finite life and are amortised on a systematic basis matched to the future economic benefits over the useful 
life of the project. 
 

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 Overview 

 

The Company and Consolidated Entity have exposure to the following risks from the use of financial 

instruments:  

• Credit risk  

• Liquidity risk  

• Market risk 

 

This note presents information about the Company's and the Consolidated Entity's exposure to each of 

above risks, their objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management 

of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements. 

The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk 

management and monitors operational and financial risk management throughout the Consolidated Entity. 

Monitoring risk management includes ensuring appropriate policies and procedures are published and 

adhered to. The Management reports to the Audit Committee.  

The Board aims to manage the impact of short-term fluctuations on the Company's and the Consolidated 

Entity's earnings. Over the longer term, permanent changes in market rates will have an impact on earnings. 

The Company and the Consolidated Entity are exposed to risks from movements in exchange rates, 

commodity prices and interest rates that affect revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and forecast 

transactions. Financial risk management aims to limit these market risks through ongoing operational and 

finance activities.  

Exposure to credit, commodity prices, foreign exchange and interest rate risks arises in the normal course 

of the Company's and the Consolidated Entity's business. Derivative financial instruments are not used to 

hedge exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, interest rates or commodity prices.  

The Audit Committee oversees adequacy of the company’s risk management framework in relation to the 

risks faced by the Company and the Consolidated Entity. 

 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company or the Consolidated Entity if a customer, controlled 

entity or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally 

from the Company's and the Consolidated Entity's receivables from customers. 
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 Trade and other receivables 

 

The Company's and Consolidated Entity's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the geographical 

location and characteristics of individual customers. The Consolidated Entity does not have a significant 

concentration of credit risk with a single customer.  

Policies and procedures of credit management and administration of receivables are established and 

executed at a regional level.  

In monitoring customer credit risk, the ageing profile of total receivables balances is reviewed by 

management by geographic region on a monthly basis.  

The Company and the Consolidated Entity have established an allowance for impairment that represents 

their estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables. 

 Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Consolidated Entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 

they fall due. The Consolidated Entity's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that 

it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 

conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Consolidated Entity's reputation. 

The Consolidated Entity monitors cash flow requirements and produces cash flow projections for the short 

and long term with a view to optimising return on investments. Typically, the Consolidated Entity ensures 

that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational net cash flows for a period of at least 30 

days, including the servicing of financial obligations. This excludes the potential impact of extreme 

circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. 

 Market Risk 

 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, commodity prices

interest rates and equity prices will affect the Company's and the Consolidated Entity's net loss or the value 

of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control 

market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.   

 Currency Risk 

 

The Consolidated Entity undertakes its exploration and production transactions denominated in US 

currency and is exposed to currency risk on the value of is exploration assets and sales and purchases that 

are denominated in United States dollars (USD). 

None  (2010-100%) of the Consolidated Entity's revenues from continuing operations and over 58% (2010-

50%) of costs from continuing operations are denominated in currencies other than AUD. Risk resulting 

from the translation of assets and liabilities of foreign operations into the Consolidated Entity's reporting 

currency is not hedged. 

 Interest Rate Risk 

 

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to interest rate risks in relation to the return earned on its funds on 

deposit and invested. The Consolidated Entity does not have short or long term debt, and therefore risk is 

minimal. 

 

Capital Management 

The Consolidated Entity's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a 

going concern, to provide returns to shareholders, to provide benefits to other stakeholders and to maintain 

an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.  

The Board aims to maintain and develop a capital base appropriate to the Consolidated Entity. In order to 

maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Consolidated Entity can issue new shares. The Board of 

directors undertakes periodic reviews of the Consolidated Entity's capital management position to assess 

whether the capital management structure is appropriate to meet the Consolidated Entity's medium and 

long-term strategic requirements. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is subject to externally 

imposed capital requirements. There were no significant changes in the Consolidated Entity's approach to 

capital management during the year. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 

 

 

 

30 June 2011 
$ 

 30 June 2010 
$ 

5. REVENUE 

   

Oil and gas sales – discontinued operation -  53,590 

 
Other revenue 

   

Interest received 213,844  89,034 

    
 
 

6. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 
 
Loss before related income tax expense includes the following net gains and expenses : 

 
Net foreign currency losses/(gains) 203,235  63,386 

    
    

 

  

7. INCOME TAXES 

   

(a) Tax expense/(income)    

The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax 

accounting profit/(loss) from operations reconciles to the 

income tax expense in the financial statements as 

follows:  

   

Net loss for the year  (1,843,101) (3,822,107) 

    

Income tax expense/(benefit) calculated at 30% (2010: 

30%) 

 
(552,930) 

  
(1,146,632) 

    

Add/(less) tax effect of:    

Other non-allowable items 39,600  - 

Unrealised foreign exchange loss 60,971  19,016 

Other temporary differences not recognised 11,083  9,804 

Unused tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets 441,276  1,117,812 

    

Income tax expense -  - 
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7. INCOME TAXES (Continued) 

 

(b) Deferred tax assets 

 

The following deferred tax balances at 30% (2010: 30%) have not been recognised: 

 

 30 June 2011 
$ 

 30 June 2010 
$ 

 

Revenue losses 

 
1,820,545 

  
1,791,806 

Capital losses 2,661,852  2,661,852 

Capital raising costs -  90,304 

Unrealised exchange loss 60,971  19,016 

Provisions and accruals 11,083  9,804 

     Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 4,554,451  4,572,782 

 

 

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    
Cash at bank – A$ Accounts 1,460,931  892,640 

Cash at bank – USD Accounts 773,668  54,862 

 2,234,599  947,502 

    
 
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rate. 
 

9. TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES    
    
Current    
Other debtors 13,304  14,459 

 13,304  14,459 

 
Other debtors are non-interest bearing and generally on 30 day terms 
 

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT    
    
Plant and equipment – at cost -  - 
Accumulated depreciation -  - 

 -  - 

    
Movements in the carrying amounts of plant and 
equipment during the current financial year: 

   

Balance at the beginning of the year -  22,234 
Disposals -  (20,734) 
Depreciation expense -  (1,500) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year -  - 

 

11.  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS   

a. Held to maturity financial assets: 

Convertible note  in unlisted company  - 1,101,800

b. Available for sale financial assets:  
Shares in unlisted company 1,922,068

 
-

Investment in Limited Liability Company  779,078 779,078

 2,701,146 1,880,878

 
During the year the convertible note in unlisted company was converted to shares. 
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12.  DEFERRED EXPLORATION,  EVALUATION 
AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE 

30 June 2011 
$ 

 30 June 2010 
$ 

 
 

  

Exploration and evaluation costs carried forward in 
respect of oil and gas exploration areas of interest 

 
- 

 
- 

Movement in carrying amounts   
Opening balance - 4,812,024 
Disposal of subsidiary  - (4,812,024) 

Closing balance - - 

 

9.   13. TRADE & OTHER PAYABLES     

Current   
Accruals 166,051 179,323 
Owing for purchase of securities 78,792 - 

 244,843 179,323 

 
14. SHARE CAPITAL    

    
Issued and paid up capital    
209,048,067 (2010: 130,654,903) Ordinary shares fully 
paid 

 
46,686,559 

  
42,934,768 

    

     (a) Movements in paid up capital    

    
At the beginning of the reporting period 42,934,768  42,934,768 
Issue of shares net of expenses 3,751,791 - 

At end of reporting period 46,686,559 42,934,768 

 
On the 23rd July 2010 the Company announced a non-renounceable entitlement issue of 3 new ordinary shares 
for every five ordinary shares held at an issue price of 5 cents per share. The issue closed on 25th August 
2010, with acceptances received for 39,230,396 shares, representing a total of $1.962 million raised. These 
shares were issued on 2nd September 2010. 

A further 39,162,768 shares at 5 cents per share from the entitlement issue shortfall were issued raising a 
further $1.958 million and bringing the total amount raised from the issue to $3.92 million. These shares were 
issued on 14th September 2010 (25,860,000 shares) and 20th September 2010 (13,302,768 shares). 

     (b) Movements in shares on issue    
    
At the beginning of the reporting period 130,654,903  130,654,903 
Shares issued during the period 78,393,164  - 

At end of reporting period 209,048,067 130,654,903 

 
(c) Options 
 
At the end of the reporting period, there were 6,000,000 options on issue (2010: nil). On 23rd November 2010 
shareholders approved the issue of 6 million options to entities associated with Directors. These options are 
convertible into fully paid shares upon payment of 20 cents per share at any time prior to 31st December 2014. 
 

Terms and conditions of contributed equity 

Ordinary shares 

Holders of ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of the winding up of 
the Company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and 
amounts paid up on shares held. 
 
Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company. 
 
Options over ordinary shares 

No options were exercised during the year (2010:nil). 
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15. RESERVES 
 

  30 June 2011 
$ 

30 June 2010 
$ 

OPTION RESERVE 
Balance at beginning of the year 

  
2,489,100 

 
2,489,100 

Share and option expense  132,000 - 

Balance at end of the year  2,621,100 2,489,100 
 

      Nature and purpose of reserve 
       The share based payment reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued. 

 

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE  
  Balance at beginning of the year - 1,678,053 

Currency translation differences arising  -  - 
Disposal of subsidiary  -  (1,678,053) 

Balance at end of the year  - - 
 

     Nature and purpose of reserve 
     The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translations of                    
     the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries. 

 

16. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS     

Remuneration of the Company’s auditors for:     

Auditing or reviewing the financial report  23,000  24,000 

Other services  1,500  2,000 

Remuneration of other auditors for auditing or 

reviewing the financial reports of subsidiaries  

 

-  16,995 

Total auditors’ remuneration included in 

operating result 

 

24,500  42,995 
 

 17.  SEGMENT INFORMATION 

Segment Information 

An operating segment is a component of the Consolidated Entity that engages in business activities from which 

it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any 

of the Consolidated Entity’s other components if separately reported and monitored. An operating segment’s 

operating results are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to make decisions about resources to be 

allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

Segment results that are reported to the Board of Directors include items directly attributable to a segment as 
well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate head 
office results. 

An operating segment is a component of the Consolidated Entity that engages in business activities from which 

it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any 

of the Consolidated Entity’s other components if separately reported and monitored. An operating segment’s 

operating results are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to make decisions about resources to be 

allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments 

Accounting policies adopted 

Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors as the chief decision maker with 

respect to operating segments are determined in accordance with accounting policies that are consistent to 

those adopted in the annual financial statements of the Consolidated Entity. 

Unallocated items 

The following items of revenue and expenses are not allocated to operating segments as they are not 

considered part of the core operations of any segment: 

- head office expenses; foreign exchange gains and losses; interest income; and income tax expense. 
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17. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 
 

Geographical location: Australia USA Total 

2011 $ $ $ 

External sales revenue - - -

Revenue from discontinued operations - - -

Segment loss before tax (1,190,787) - (1,190,787)

Unallocated expense items (662,923)

Unrealised foreign exchange loss (203,235)

Interest received 213,844

Loss before tax (1,843,101)

Income tax expense -

Loss after tax (1,843,101)

 

Geographical location: Australia USA Total 

2010 $ $ $ 

External sales revenue - - -

Revenue from discontinued operations - 53,590 53,590

Segment loss before tax (518,655) - (518,655)

Loss from discontinuing operations - (2,895,022) (2,895,024)

Unallocated expense items (434,076)

Unrealised foreign exchange loss (63,386)

Interest received 89,034

Loss before tax (3,822,107)

Income tax expense -

Loss after tax (3,822,107)
 

18. RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET 

CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 

                     30 June 2011 
                   $ 

             30 June 2010 
            $ 

Net loss (1,843,101) (3,822,107)

Non cash items 
Unrealised foreign currency losses 203,235 63,386
Loss on disposal and expiration of leases and 
discontinued operations - 2,490,794
Share and option expenses 132,000 -
Amortisation - 1,500
Capitalised interest on securities (120,737) -

Changes in assets and liabilities  
(Increases)/decrease in receivables 1,155 12,398
(Increases)/decrease in payables and accruals (13,272) (21,295)

Net cashflows (used in)/ from operating activities (1,640,720) (1,275,324)
 
 
 

19. RECONCILIATIONS OF  CASH    
 Cash balances comprises     
 -  Cash at bank  1,460,931  892,640 

 -  US Dollar accounts  773,668  54,862 

  2,234,599  947,502 
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20. LOSS PER SHARE 
 

 

 30 June 2011 
 

 30 June 2010 
 

Net loss used in calculating basic and diluted 
earnings per share 

($1,843,101)  ($3,822,107) 

Basic and diluted (loss) per share (cents per share) (0.95)  (2.93) 
Weighted average number of shares used in the 
calculation of basic and diluted loss per share 

193,796,198  130,654,903 

Shares on issue at year end 209,048,067  130,654,903 
Number of options on issue at year end – each option 
is exercisable at 20 cents per share and convert to 
one ordinary share 

 
6,000,000 

 
 

 
- 

 
Share options are not considered dilutive, as their impact would be to decrease the net loss per share. 
Accordingly, diluted loss per share has not been disclosed. 
 

21. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES 
Interests are held in the following subsidiary  

Name  Country of Incorporation  Ownership Interest 

  2011 2010 

  % % 

K2 Energy Investments Pty 

Limited Australia 100 100 

 
No subsidiary companies were acquired during the year. In the prior year, the Company acquired approximately 
30% of Trey Resources 1 LLC., a US based company in exchange for its oil and gas assets and 100% of the 
shares in K2 Energy USA Inc. which were transferred to Trey Resources Inc. as part of this transaction.  
 
The 30% interest in Trey Resources does not have voting rights attached and is therefore not associated.  
 

Financial information relating to the deconsolidation of K2 Energy USA Inc. to the date of disposal is set out 
below. 

The financial performance of the discontinued operation to the date of sale which is included in loss from 
discontinued operations per the statement of comprehensive income is as follows: 

 

30 June 2011 

$  

30 June 2010 

$ 

Revenue - 53,590

Expenses - (2,948,614)

Loss before income tax - (2,895,024)

Income tax expense - -

Loss attributable to members of the parent entity - (2,895,024)

 

The net cash flows of the discontinuing division which have been incorporated into the statement of cash flows 
are as follows: 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities - (520,830)

Net cash inflow/(outflow)  from investing activities  - -

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities - -

Net increase/(decrease) in cash generated by the 
discontinuing division - (520,830)
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22.  SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
 

(a) Share and Option holdings 
 
Details of options and shares held by key management personnel (including those holding entities associated with 
Directors) are set out below. 

 
Shares held by Key Management Personnel 

 
Year ended 30 June 2011 

 Balance at 

beginning 

of year 

Shares 

Issued  

Bought & 

(Sold) 

Balance at 

date of 

retirement/ 

appointment 

Balance at 

end of year 

Directors      

Mike Reed  1,800,000 - 200,000 (2,000,000) - 

Samuel Gazal  3,000,000 - 4,600,000 - 7,600,000 

Peter Moore  7,100,000 - - (7,100,000) - 

Ken Gaunt  6,464,037 - 4,035,223 - 10,499,260 

Robert Mears - - - - - 

Total 18,364,037 - 8,835,223 (9,100,000) 18,099,260 

 

Year ended 30 June 2010 
 Balance at 

beginning 

 of year 

Shares  

Issued 

Bought & 

(Sold) 

Balance at 

date of 

retirement/ 

appointment 

Balance at 

end of year 

Directors      

Mike Reed  1,800,000 - - - 1,800,000 

Samuel Gazal  1,950,000 - 1,050,000 - 3,000,000 

Peter Moore  9,100,000 - (2,000,000) - 7,100,000 

Ken Gaunt  2,550,000 - 3,914,037 - 6,464,037 

Total 15,400,000 - 2,964,037 - 18,364,037 
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22. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 
 

Options held by Key Management Personnel 
 

Year ended 30 June 2011 

 Balance 

at 

01.07.10 

Received 

as 

Remune-

ration 

Lapse of 

Options 

Bought & 

(Sold) 

Balance at date 

of retirement/ 

appointment 

Balance 

at 

30.06.11 

Total 

Vested 

Total 

Exercisable 

Directors         

Mike Reed  - - - - - - - 

Samuel Gazal  - 4,000,000* - - 4,000,000 - 4,000,000 

Peter Moore  - - - - - - - 

Ken Gaunt  - 2,000,000* - - 2,000,000 - 2,000,00 

Robert Mears - - - - - - - - 

Total - 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000 - 6,000,000 

 
*Shareholders approved the issue of a total of 6 million options exercisable upon payment of 20 cents per share to 
Director’s related entities on 23 November 2010. These options expire on 31st December 2014. 

 
Year ended 30 June 2010 

 Balance 

at 

01.07.10 

Received 

as 

Remuner-

ation 

Lapse of 

Options 

Bought & 

(Sold) 

Balance at date 

of retirement/ 

appointment 

Balance 

at 

30.06.10 

Total 

Vested 

Total 

Exercisable 

Directors         

Mike Reed  1,500,000 - (1,500,000) - - - - - 

Samuel Gazal  1,125,000 - (1,125,000) - - - - - 

Peter Moore  9,250,000 - (9,250,000) - - - - - 

Ken Gaunt  1,187,500 - (1,187,500) - - - - - 

Total 13,062,500 - (13,062,500) - - - - - 

 

Options issued as Part of Remuneration for the year-ended 30 June 2011 

Except as listed above, no options were issued to directors and executives as part of their remuneration in the current year. 

Further details are provided in Note 14(c). 
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22. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 
 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of and movements in 
share options issued as share based payments during the year: 

 
  

 
 
 

2011 

 
 

Number of Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

$ 

   

Outstanding at beginning of the year - - 
Issued during the year 6,000,000 0.20 

Outstanding at the end of the year 6,000,000 0.20 

Exercisable at the end of the year 6,000,000 0.20 

 

 
 
 

2010 

 
 

Number of Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

$ 

   

Outstanding at beginning of the year 2,000,000                                    0.34 
Lapsed during the year (2,000,000)                                    (0.34) 

Outstanding at the end of the year -                                         - 

   

Exercisable at the end of the year -                                         - 

 
(i) Expense in the income statement $132,000 (2010: nil), which relates to equity-settled share-based 

payment transactions. 
(ii) There are no administrative and corporate expenses in the income statement (2010: $nil), which 

relates to equity-settled share-based payment transactions. 
(iii) No options were issued to employees in 2011. 
 

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 30 June 2011 3.5 years 
(2010- N/A). 
 
The fair value of the cash-settled options is measured at the grant date using the Black-Scholes options pricing 
model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The services 
received and a liability to pay for those services are recognised over the expected vesting period. Until the 
liability is settled it is remeasured at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 
 

(b) Employee Benefits  
 
At 30 June 2011, K2 Energy Limited had no employees (2010: 1). 
 

23.   EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE  
 
The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the period to the date of 
this report that has significantly affected or may affect: 

(i) The operations of the company and the entities that it controls 
(ii) The results of those operations 
(iii) The state of affairs of the company in subsequent years. 

 
In September 2011 Mears Technologies Inc. advised shareholders it would be conducting a further fund raising 
to enable it to fund working capital for its CMOS research and development program. The ongoing viability of 
Mears Technologies Inc. is dependent upon successful completion of this capital raising.  
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24.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 
 

The Consolidated Entity is not aware of any contingent liabilities, which existed as at the end of the financial 
year or have arisen as at the date of this report.  
 

The company has agreed to fund solar research and development expenditure to be conducted by Mears 
Technologies Inc. at a rate of $US 1 million per calendar year until 2014. 

 

R&D COMMITMENTS 

30 June 2011 

$ 

30 June 2010 

$ 

Commitments not capitalised in the financial statements   

Payable   

—  not later than 1 year 931,880 1,141,290 

— later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 2,329,700 3,994,515 

— later than 5 years - - 

 3,261,580 5,135,805 

25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 

Ultimate Parent 

K2 Energy Limited is the ultimate Australian parent company. 
 

Other Related Party Transactions 

(i) Amount of $133,333 (2010-$133,333) was paid to Winchester Associates Pty Limited (a company 
associated with Mr Gazal) for company secretarial services, full accounting and reporting functions 
and financial advisory services provided to K2 Energy Limited. 

(ii) Amount of $15,758 (2010-$61,482) for advisory services was paid to Aspen Energy Inc. (a 
company associated with Mr Reed) for services provided to K2 Energy USA Inc. 

(iii) Amount of $150,000 (2010-$37,772) was paid to Geoflite Inc. (a company associated with Mr 
Moore) for technical and advisory services provided to K2 Energy USA Inc. during 2010. This was 
provided for in the 2010 financial report.  

(iv) Amount of $1,190,787 (2010- $518,655) was paid/is payable to Mears Technologies Inc. (a 
company associated with Dr Mears) for solar research and development expenditure. 

(v) Amount of $436,154 was invested in a convertible note issued by Mears Technologies Inc. (a 
company associated with Dr Mears) in September 2010. In June 2011 $157,585 was invested in 
Mears Technologies Inc as F Series stock. A further amount of USD83,333 remains payable prior 
to December 2011. In June 2011 interest receivable of $120,737 was capitalised in respect of 
convertible notes issued by Mears Technologies Inc. and convertible note was converted into stock.  

(vi) Amount of $35,591 is payable to Mears Technologies Inc. in respect of Director’s services 
provided by Robert Mears to K2 Energy Limited.   

All the above payments were made on normal commercial terms and conditions. 
 

26. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 
 

(a) Details of Key Management Personnel 
 

(i) Directors during the year ended 30 June 2011 were: 

 Samuel Gazal - Non-Executive Chairman  
 Robert Mears - Non-Executive Director (appointed 3rd July 2010) 
 Ken Gaunt - Non-Executive Director 
 Mike Reed - Non-Executive Director (resigned 23rd November 2010) 
 Peter Moore - Managing Director (resigned 2nd July 2010) 
 

(b) Compensation Practices and Key Management Personnel Compensation 

Details of compensation practices and key management personnel compensation are disclosed in the Directors’ 

Report, which accompanies these financial statements. 

(c) Other Transactions and Balances with Key Management Personnel 
Disclosures relating to other transactions and balances with key management personnel during the financial year are 
set out in note notes 22 and 25 and the Remuneration Report.  There were no loans to key management personnel 
during the financial year. 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 

Credit Risk 

Exposure to Credit Risk 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit 

risk at the reporting date was: 

  

 30 June 2011 

$ 

30 June 2010 

$ 

Cash and equivalents  2,234,599 947,502

Other Receivables  13,304 14,459

Other financial assets (note 11a) - 1,101,800

 2,247,903 2,063,761

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables 

and other financial assets at the reporting date by geographic region 

was: 

United States - 1,101,800

Australia - -

 - 1,101,800

 

Impairment Losses  

The aging of trade receivables and other financial assets at the reporting date was: 

Gross receivables 

Not past due date - 1,101,800

Past due 30- 90 - -

Past due 90 days and over - -

 - 1,101,800

Impairment  - -

Trade receivables and other financial assets net of 

impairment loss 

- 1,101,800

 

 

There was no movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables and other financial assets 

during the year.  

 

No impairment losses have been recognised in the year. 

Based upon past experience, the Consolidated Entity believes that no impairment allowance, other than as provided in 

these accounts is necessary in respect of trade and other receivables not past due. 

The allowance accounts used in respect of trade and other receivables are used to record impairment losses unless the 

Consolidated Entity is satisfied that non -recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point, the amount 

considered non-recoverable is written off against the financial asset directly. 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

  Currency Risk 

Consolidated Entity’s exposure to foreign currency (USD) risk was as follows, based upon notional amounts: 

 

Amounts local currency  

 30 June 2011 

$ 

30 June 2010 

$ 

Cash and equivalents  773,668 54,862

Investments (note 11) 2,701,146 1,880,878

Other Payables (note 13) (178,107) -

 3,296,707 1,935,740

     

The following significant exchange rates applied to the Company and the Consolidated Entity during the year: 

 Average Rate Reporting date spot rate 

AUD = 1 2011 2010 2011 2010 

USD - 0.8762 1.0731 0.8407 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

Profile 

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company’s and the Consolidated Entity’s interest bearing financial 

instruments was: 

   

Carrying amount 30 June 2011 

$ 

30 June 2010 

$ 

Variable rate instruments 

Financial assets - 1,101,800

Financial liabilities - -
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27.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

 

Liquidity Risk 

The following are the contractual maturities of the Consolidated Entity’s financial assets and liabilities including estimated 

interest payments. 

2011 Effective 

interest rate 

p.a. 

Carrying 

amount $ 

Less than 1 

year 

1-5 years More than 

5 years 

Cash and cash equivalents            3.69% 2,234,599 2,234,599 - -

Other receivables - 13,304 13,304 - -

Other financial assets - - - - -

Payables - (244,843) (244,843) - -

Total - 2,003,060 2,003,060 - -

2010 Effective 

interest rate 

p.a. 

Carrying 

amount $ 

Less than 1 

year 

1-5 years More than 

5 years 

Cash and cash equivalents 3.48% 947,502 947,502 - -

Other receivables - 14,459 14,459 - -

Other financial assets - 1,101,800 - 1,101,800 -

Payables - (179,323) (179,323) - -

Total - 2,243,084 1,141,284 1,101,800 -

Sensitivity Analysis  

In managing interest rate and currency risks, the Consolidated Entity aims to reduce the impact of short-term 
fluctuations on the Consolidated Entity’s earnings. Over the longer term however, permanent changes in foreign 
exchange and interest rates will have an impact on the result. 

For the year ended 30 June 2011, it is estimated that a general increase of one percent in interest rates would have 
decreased the Consolidated Entity’s loss after income tax and equity by approximately $25,000 (2010: $15,000). A 
one percent decrease in interest rates would have had the equal but opposite effect on the Consolidated Entity’s 
loss and equity. 

It is estimated that a general increase of ten percent in the value of the AUD against the USD would have 
decreased the Consolidated Entity’s loss for the year ended 30 June 2011, and increase the Consolidated Entity’s 
equity by approximately $107,000 (2010: increase $60,000). A ten percent decrease in the value of the AUD 
against the USD would have the equal but opposite effect on the Consolidated Entity’s loss and equity. 

 

Fair Values 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet are as follows: 

                                                                                                                                  

 30 June 2011 

$ 

30 June 2010 

$ 

          Carrying                                           

          amount 

        Fair value      Carrying      

       amount 

   Fair value 

Cash and equivalents  2,234,599 2,234,599 947,502 947,502

Investments 2,701,146 2,701,146 1,880,878 1,880,878

Trade and other receivables – current 13,304 13,304 14,459 14,459

Trade and other payables (244,843) (244,843) (179,323) (179,323)

Total 4,704,206 4,704,206 2,663,516 2,663,516
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27.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

 

Basis for determining fair values 

The following summarises the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial 
instruments reflected in the table above. 

Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities 

The fair value of cash, receivables, payables and short-term borrowings is considered to approximate their carrying 
amount because of their short maturity. Other assets are based on the assets carrying values which approximates 
fair value.  

 

28. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 

At and throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2011, the parent company was K2 Energy Limited. 

  

Result of the parent entity                30 June 2011 

           $ 

                   30 June 2010 

                  $ 

Net profit/(loss) (287,938) (5,972,640)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) - -

Total comprehensive income  (287,938) (5,972,640)

 

Financial position of the parent entity at year end 

Current assets 1,448,247 650,260

Total assets 5,775,816 2,063,756

 

Current liabilities 145,528 29,321

Total liabilities 145,528 29,321

 

Total equity of the parent entity comprising of: 

Issued capital 46,686,559 42,934,768

Share option reserve 2,621,000 2,489,100

Accumulated losses (43,677,271) (43,389,433)

Total Equity 5,630,288 2,034,435

 

Parent entity contingencies 

The details of all contingent liabilities and future commitments in respect to K2 Energy Limited are disclosed in Note 

24. 
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K2 ENERGY LIMITED A.C.N 106 609 143 

DIRECTORS' DECLARATION 

 
 
 
The directors of the Company declare that: 
 
1. the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 13 to 39, are in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001: 
 
(a) comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 
 
(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2011 and of the performance for 

the year ended on that date of the Company and Consolidated Entity; and 
 
2. the Chairman and Company Secretary have each declared that: 

 
(a) the financial records of the Company for the financial year have been properly maintained in 

accordance with section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001; 
 

(b) the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting Standards; 
and 

 
 (c) the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view. 
 
3. in the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 

debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Mr Sam Gazal 
Chairman 
 
 
 
30 September 2011 
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STIRLING INTERNATIONAL 

         CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 

K2 ENERGY LIMITED 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of K2 Energy Limited (the company) and the 

consolidated entity, which comprises the balance sheet as at 30 June 2011, and the income statement, 

statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 

year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes and the 

directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the 

year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report  

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 

Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining 

internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 

policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In Note 2, the 

directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101: Presentation of Financial 

Statements, that compliance with the Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with 

IFRS.
 

Auditor’s Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply 

with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 

the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 

of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
 

An audit also 

includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion. 

Independence
 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 

2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, provided to 

the directors of K2 Energy Limited, would be in the same terms if provided to the directors as at the date of 

this auditor’s report. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
K2 ENERGY LIMITED 

Auditor’s Opinion  

In our opinion: 

a. the financial report of K2 Energy Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:  

i. giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 

30 June 2011 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and  

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 

Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 

b. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 

Note 2. 

Inherent Uncertainty Regarding Recoverability of Assets 
Without qualification to the opinion expressed above, attention is drawn to the following matters: 
 
Included in non current assets in Note 11 to the consolidated balance sheet is an investment in an unlisted 
company, being Mears Technologies Inc, at book value of $1,922,068. The ultimate recovery of the value 
of this asset is dependent upon the success of the commercialisation of the Mears Silicon Technology and 
the viability of the Mears Technology Inc business as a whole. 
 
As a result of the matter described in Note 23 to the financial statements, there is significant uncertainty 
whether Mears Technology Inc will be able to continue as a going concern and therefore whether K2 
Energy Limited would realise the value of the non current assets in Note 11 to the consolidated balance 
sheet.  
 
Report on the Remuneration Report 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the report of the directors for the year ended 30 
June 2011. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with s 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with the 
Australian Auditing Standards. 

Auditor’s Opinion  

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of K2 Energy Limited for the year ended 30 June 2011, complies 
with s 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Stirling International 

Chartered Accountants 

 

 

 

Peter Turner 

St James Centre 111 Elizabeth St Sydney 2000 

30 September 2011 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  

UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 

TO THE DIRECTORS OF K2 ENERGY LIMITED 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2011 there have 

been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in 

relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

Stirling International 

Chartered Accountants 

 

 

 

Peter Turner 

30 September 2011 

St James Centre 111 Elizabeth St Sydney 2000 
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
 
Shareholding 

 
The distribution of members and their holdings of equity securities in the company as at 20 September 2011 
was as follows: 
  

   
Number Held  Fully Paid 

Ordinary Shares 
  Holders 

     

1-1,000 82,088   250 

1,001 - 5,000 534,166   166 

5,001 – 10,000 2,455,883   315 

10,001 - 100,000 23,006,636   606 

100,001 and over 182,969,294   251 

TOTALS 209,048,067   1,588 

 
 
Holders of less than a marketable parcel – fully paid shares: 751. 
 

Substantial Shareholders 
 
The names of the substantial shareholders listed in the Company’s register as at 20 September 2011 
 

Shareholder               Number 
Asia Union Investments Pty Ltd 14,000,000 
Golden Words Pty Limited 12,401,703 
 
 

Voting Rights 

 
Ordinary Shares 
 
In accordance with the Company's Constitution, on a show of hands every member present in person or by proxy or 
attorney or duly authorised representative has one vote.  On a poll every member present in person or by proxy or 
attorney or duly authorised representative has one vote for every fully paid ordinary share held. 
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ADDITIONAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION (CONT.) 
 

Twenty Largest Shareholders  

 

The names of the twenty largest shareholders as at 20 September 2011 are as follows: 
 

 Name 

Number of 
Ordinary 

Shares Held 

% Held of 
Class of 
Equities 

 ASIA UNION INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 14,000,000 6.697 

 GOLDEN WORDS PTY LIMITED 12,401,703 5.932 

 MR TREVOR KENNEDY & MRS CHRISTINA KENNEDY & MR DANIEL 
KENNEDY  <GOLDEN EGGS SUPER FUND A/C> 10,641,023 5.090 

 EDWARDS MEADOWS PTY LIMITED  <MOORE INVESTMENT A/C> 9,100,000 4.353 

 BLAZZED PTY LTD  <GAUNT MANAGEMENT A/C> 6,240,000 2.985 

 TIMBINA PTY LIMITED  <SUPER FUND A/C> 5,019,050 2.401 

 MR ROBERT KENNETH GAUNT 4,259,260 2.037 

 BALANDER PTY LIMITED  <SUPER FUND A/C> 3,995,000 1.911 

 MONTCLAIR PTY LIMITED  <WASSIM GAZAL FAMILY A/C> 3,200,000 1.531 

 UNITED & PACIFIC SHIRT CO PTY LTD  <THE ELIZABETH NO 2 A/C> 3,000,000 1.435 

 TIMBINA PTY LIMTED  <TIMBINA SUPER FUND A/C> 2,959,120 1.416 

 MRS JOYITA PELENATETE MALYON 2,930,000 1.402 

 TARA SHORE PTY LTD  <JOHN TAYLOR FAMILY A/C> 2,136,638 1.022 

 MR ROBERT GREGORY LOOBY  <FAMILY ACCOUNT> 2,040,000 0.976 

 BESABA PTY LTD 2,000,000 0.957 

 N & M SEWELL HOLDINGS PTY LTD  <NTMLS SUPER FUND A/C> 2,000,000 0.957 

 MR GEOFFREY COUSINS 2,000,000 0.957 

 SETTI PTY LTD  <A ESKANDER COMM PROPERTY A/C> 2,000,000 0.957 

 BALANDER PTY LTD  <FLOWER A/C> 1,925,000 0.921 

 MR KEITH WILLIAM SHEPPARD  <SHEPPARD FAMILY A/C> 1,920,000 0.918 

  93,766,794 44.854 
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